IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PARTICK DEJEAN

APPELLANT

VERSUS

CAUSE NO: 2005-TS-00409

HAYWOOD DEJEAN, CHRISTINE DEJEAN AND HANCOCK BANK

APPELLEES

FILED

APPEAL FROM CHANCERY COURT (ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

NOV 1 4 2006

OFFICE OF THE CLERK SUPREME COURT COURT OF APPEALS

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLANT

Elliot Mestayer Mestayer & Associates P.A. 2128 Ingalls Ave Pascagoula, MS 39567 228.762.1193 Bar

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- Whether the Chancellor committed manifest error in finding that CD
 #16314 was redeemed prior to Julia Mae DeJean's death.
- 2. Whether the Chancellor applied an erroneous legal standard in holding that, in effect, a certificate of deposit could be partially redeemed.
- 3. Whether the Chancellor neglected to apply the "four corners" doctrine to certificate of deposit # 16314.
- 4. Whether the Chancellor failed to apply MCA 81-5-63.
- 5. Whether the Chancellor properly failed to grant an equitable division of the certificate of deposit based upon the source of funding of the certificate of deposit.
- 6. Whether there was a sufficient "endorsement" of CD # 16134.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A Declaratory judgment suit was filed by Patrick K. DeJean on September 10, 2001 and initially named only Christine DeJean and Heywood DeJean as Defendants. An Answer was duly filed on April 12, 2001.

Patrick DeJean requested that the court declare him to be the sole owner of CD #16314 issued by Hancock Bank that was in his name or Julia Mae DeJean. Julia Mae DeJean died January 20th, 2001 and Hancock Bank did not pay Patrick DeJean but rather issued a new certificate of deposit to Julia Mae DeJean or Christine DeJean, Heywood DeJean with an issue date of January 23rd, 2001. The certificate of deposit appeared to have been redeemed under a power of attorney purportedly executed by Julia Mae DeJean just prior to her death.

On the eve of the first trial setting, Hancock Bank's response to a subpoena duce tecum was opened. Thereafter the Plaintiff moved for a continuance seeking to add an indispensable party, Hancock Bank. Additional time was granted and upon motion properly made and granted, Patrick DeJean filed amended pleadings naming Hancock Bank as an additional Defendant. Essentially Patrick DeJean sued Hancock Bank for breach of contract. Also Patrick DeJean requested return of the proceeds under the theory of unjust enrichment, incapacity of the Decedent to execute a power of attorney and under general equitable principals.

Hancock Bank filed an Answer on March 5, 2003 and the case was tried on October 18th, 2004. All parties were present and represented by counsel. Patrick DeJean, Heywood DeJean and Hancock Bank employee, Peggy Walker, testified at trial.

On December 30th, 2004, Chancellor Bradley entered her Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law and a Final Judgment was issued on February 7th, 2005. The Chancellor denied the Plaintiff's various requests for relief.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Chancellor erred in finding that Julia Mae had redeemed CD # 16314 prior to her death. The CD speaks for its self and is clear and unambiguous especially when compared to the issue date of the subsequent CD issued three days after her death.

If the Court is entitled to consider the testimony of Hancock Bank employee, Peggy Walker, in violation of the parole evidence rule, the Chancellor misconstrued or misinterpreted her clear testimony which indicated that Julia Mae DeJean told her days before her death that she wanted to wait until January 23rd, 2001 to avoid an loss of interest which turned out to be three days after Julia Mae DeJean's unexpected death.

The Chancellor tried to carry out Julie Mae DeJean's intention of transferring CD # 16314 to her self and others by rewriting CD #17178. Julia Mae DeJean took the risk that she would die before the effective date of the new CD (January 23rd, 2001) and the Court cannot relieve her or her intended beneficiaries of the consequences of Julia Mae's decision. The Court does not have the power to rewrite CD # 171278 to have an effective date of January 19th, 2001.

The Chancellor findings create a fiction that a CD can be redeemed for purposes of changing ownership but at the same time would not be redeemed for interest purposes until a later date.

CD# 16134, in Patrick and Julia Mae DeJean's name, does indicate what date it was redeemed. When this CD and its successor are considered together, it is apparent the Court did not apply the four corners doctrine or MCA 81-5-63 because the clear language of this contract creates a joint tenancy payable to Patrick DeJean upon Julia Mae DeJean's death.

The Chancellor failed to recognize that the lack of an endorsement on CD #16134 demonstrates that CD# 16134 was not redeemed prior to Julia Mae DeJean's death as further supported by the issuance date of the subsequent CD dated three days after her death. Instead the Court focused on what constitutes an oral endorsement and if same is adequate.

The Appellant also requests that the principals set forth in Delta Fertilizer Inc v. Weaver, 547 So.2d 800 (Miss. 1989) be applied to these particular circumstances. Specifically The Appellant requests that the Court recognize Patrick DeJean's ownership of one-half of the principal and interest because it was part of his inheritance from his sister.

ARGUMENT

PATRICK DEJEAN is the adopted son of V.P. and Mary DeJean. His birth mother was Julia May DeJean. Through adoption he had three brothers and two sisters namely, Valsin P. DeJean, Louis M. DeJean, Morris M. DeJean, Vernon P. DeJean, Margueritte Elizabeth DeJean and Julie May DeJean (his birth mother). (Pg. 20, Ln. 1, 15-18)

The property in dispute originally came from Patrick and Julia Mae DeJean's parents. (Pg. 20, Ln. 25, 27-29 and Pg 21, Ln. 1-3, 5-6) The family inheritance was passed down to the remaining family members as joint tenants. (Pg. 24, Ln. 22). As family members died, the remaining property would be placed in the surviving living siblings names. (Pg. 21, Ln. 15-17, Ln. 20).

The only disputed portion of the family inheritance is a certificate of deposit held at Hancock Bank # 16314 in the face amount of \$100,000.00 bearing interest at the rate of 4.65 %. This certificate of deposit was purchased with funds solely generated from the sale of bank stock inherited from Margueritte Elizabeth DeJean's estate. Margueritte Elizabeth DeJean, Deceased, died in 1982 and left all of her Pascagoula-Moss Point Bank stock to Patrick and Julia May DeJean equally. (Trans. Pg.21. Ln. 10-29, Pg 22, Ln. 4-6, Pg. 24, Ln. 4-28; Pg 25. Ln 3.) They sold the stock and purchased a certificate of deposit (hereinafter referred to as a C.D) at Hancock Bank in the amount of \$141,313.42 as joint tenants with rights of survivorship on December 27, 1991. (Appellant's Exhibit 1, pg.3) Thereafter the original certificate of deposit matured and was replaced by subsequent C.D.s namely, C.D. # 14085, 15275, 15989 and 16314 respectively. (Appellant's Exhibit

1, pg 3, 4, 7, 8, and 9) C.D. #12720 was eventually endorsed by Julia Mae DeJean and C.D. #14085 was purchased. (Appellant's Exhibit 1, pg 3).

C.D. # 14085 was issued in the amount of \$149,396.16 maturing in one year and bearing interest at 3.25 % on June 24th, 1993 payable to "Julia Mae DeJean and Patrick. K. DeJean As Joint Tenants With Rights of Survivorship" (Appellant's Exhibit #1, pg 4). The C.D. directs that all interest is to be deposited to Julia Mae and Patrick K. DeJean's joint checking account #07-0041837. (Appellant's Exhibit 1, pg 4 and 6.) On the back of the C.D.#14085 where the C.D. is be endorsed, there is the following typed notation: "CD#15375 issued for 134,396.16 and 15,000.00 credited to 07-0041837 [unreadable] per Miss Julia Mae DeJean by phone 07-01-96". Neither Julia Mae DeJean nor Patrick DeJean endorsed this C.D. Appellant's Exhibit 1, pg 6 provided by Hancock Bank also contains a deposit slip dated July 2nd, 1996 which reflects the deposit of \$15,000.00 into a joint account of Julia Mae H. DeJean or Patrick K. DeJean and the issuance of C.D. #15275 in the amount of \$134,396.16.

C.D. # 15275 was actually rolled over into a new C.D # 15989 on July 2, 1996 in the amount of \$134,369.16 bearing interest at 5.05 % maturing on June 24th, 1997 with interest payable to account # 07-0041837. (Appellant's Exhibit 1, pg7) Again the C.D. was in the name of "Julia Mae DeJean or Patrick K. DeJean as tenants with rights of survivorship". This C.D. was also never endorsed by Patrick or Julia Mae; instead the back of the C.D. notes the following: "Reissued cd#15989 for \$109,283.15 Credited account #07-0041837 for \$25,000.00. per Mrs. DeJean by ...[unreadable]" and has a date of 1-21-98 handwritten on the back.

On January 23rd, 1998, C.D. # 15989 was issued in the amount of \$109,263.15 bearing interest in the amount of 5.50 %, maturing June 23, 1998 payable to "Julia Mae DeJean or Patrick K. DeJean as tenants with [unreadable] of survivorship". (Appellant's Exhibit 1, pg 8) This C.D. was issued two days after the surrender of the previous one and it directed that all interest was to be payable to Patrick and Julia Mae's joint checking account. When the C.D. was surrendered, no endorsement can be found. On the back of the C.D. was the handwritten notation "Reissue New CD #16314 for 100,000.00 Dep 9283.15 into CK A/C # 070041837".

C.D. # 16314 was issued June 23rd, 1999 in the amount of \$100,000.00 payable to "Julia Mae DeJean or Patrick K. DeJean" in one year at the rate of 4.85 % with interest to be deposited into Julia Mae and Patrick's joint checking account. (Appellant's Exhibit1, pg 9) On the face it was stamped "PAID JAN 19 2000".

Retired Hancock Bank employee Peggy Walker testified that during a telephone conversation with Julia Mae DeJean on or about January 18th or 19th, 2001, it was decided that this CD would be cashed in on January 23rd, 2001(Transcript 84-85) and a new CD would be issued in the name of Julia Mae DeJean or Christine W. DeJean or Heywood V. DeJean. Julia May DeJean died on January 20th, 2001 and Hancock Bank did in fact issue a new CD # 17178 consistent with those alleged instructions. (Appellant's Exhibit 1, Pg 10) Hancock Bank admitted that this CD was issue on January 23rd, 2001. (Trans. 92. Pg 18)

Christine DeJean and Heywood DeJean were the joint holders of a power of attorney issued by Julia Mae DeJean. (Exhibit 3) signed by Julia Mae DeJean on January 16th, 2001. During the trial, Peggy Walker, employee of Hancock Bank who handled the

transaction, stated that the power of attorney was not used as the basis for the transfer but rather the transfer was based upon the verbal instructions of Julia Mae received over the phone on or about January 18th or 19th, 2001. (Transcript Pg 83 Ln. 10) However the CD was not cashed or "proceeds been taken" until January 23rd, 2001, three days after Julia Mae's death. (Transcript Pg 84, Ln 19-21)

Patrick DeJean did not raise the issue of the validity of the power of attorney at trial.

 Did the Court commit manifest error in failing to enforce contract according to its terms.

It is undisputed CD #16314 created a joint tenancy with rights of survivorship Section 81-5-63 creates such a presumption. It is also undisputed that Julia Mae could have cashed in this CD prior to her death and the Appellant does not dispute that she wanted to cash it in. Nevertheless the issue remains or whether she did in fact cash it in prior to her death. Julia Mae began the process of cashing in the old CD for a new one prior to her death. In an effort to avoid an interest penalty, the cashing in of CD #16314 and the issuance of CD 17178 was postponed until January 23rd, 2001. (Trans. Pg 84, Ln19-25) Therefore at the time of Julia Mae's death on January 20th, 2001, Julia Mae and Patrick were still the co-owners of CD #16314 and therefore Patrick became the sole owner at her death. If we accept the Chancellor's conclusion that CD # 16314 was cashed in prior to Julia Mae's death, then some written record or testimony would exist clearly establishing what happened to \$100,000.00 between the dates of January 18th or 19th until January 23rd, 2001. Appellant subpoenaed all records relevant to the CD's and apparently there is no record showing any cash payment or deposit during this telling

period of time. Appellees' only witness confirmed that Julia Mae decided not to cash in the CD on the 18th or 19th of January to avoid an interest penalty. (Trans 84, Ln 19-29 and Pg 85 Ln1-2.) A CD cannot be cashed in to the extent it severs a joint ownership but not to the extent it causes a loss in interest. Such patent inconsistencies can not be adopted by this Court. The testimony and the documents point to only one conclusion. Julia Mae wanted to cash in CD #16314 for a new CD in her and Appellees' names effective January 23rd, 2001.

There is no doubt that Julia Mae had the right to cash in the CD without Patrick's consent while she was living. It is apparent from Peggy Walker's testimony that cashing in the CD on the 18th or 19th of January was in fact discussed with Julia Mae. The direct examination of Peggy Walker, Hancock Bank's only witness, clearly establishes that Julia Mae choose not to cash or surrender the CD until January 23rd, 2001. (Trans. 84, Ln.12-29)

- Q. Now on the day, whatever that day is, the 18th or the 19th of January, 2001, whatever that day is, on that day, which is the day you've already testified you called Julia Mae, if the proceeds had physically been taken that day, what affect, if any, would there have been on the interest?
- A. She would have lost that interest. And she was such a good customer of ours, they said "why don't we wait and date it on the 23rd."
- Q. Okay. All right, Which was-
- A. Twenty -
- Q. Several days later?
- A. Uh-huh (indicating yes).
- Q. All right
- A. So she would receive the full amount of interest.
- Q Okay. And had that not been done, would there been interest lost?
- A. Yes. There would have been.

(Trans. Pg 82-83):

- "Q. And so she [Julia Mae] was available by telephone that very day?
- A. She certainly was.

- Q. And where did you reach her when you called her. Where was she?
- A. The number that I have—
- Q. Yes, ma'am
- A. Was at her home
- Q. All right. And that is the number you called?
- A. Uh-huh (indicating yes). I don't think it was the 19th, I'll be honest dates don't really mean anything to me now. It has been so long ago, but I want to say they came in before the 19th—
- Q. Okay
- A. --on this.
- Q. All right
- A. And then they [Christine and Heywood] on the 19th.
- Q. Okay. And did you receive instructions from Julia Mae DeJean as to what to do with her CD that was current at that time?
- A. I certainly did.
- O. And what were those instructions?
- A. To issue it in her name, "Christine" or "Heywood". Is that his—Heywood.
- Q. Okay. So the existing CD, was it cashed in?
- A. Yes
- Q. And the proceeds from cashing it in, what where done with those proceeds?
- A. A CD was reissued.
- Q. Okay. A new CD was purchased?
- A. A new CD.
- Q. Okay. And were those acts, the cashing in of the old CD, taking the proceeds and acquiring a new CD, were those acts in accordance to the instructions given to you by Julia Mae DeJean?
- A. Yes, they were.

What is missing from the testimony is a statement of *what* date this "cashing in" was to be effective. Fortunately we don't have to guess what day she meant for this to be effective. The unambiguous date of the subsequent CD cannot be ignored and is easily reconciled with the testimony. CD #17178 is dated January 23rd, 2001 and above that is the notation of "Re Issue of 16314". On the back of CD #16314 in the space provided for customer endorsement is the handwritten note "Reissue new CD # 17178 per Mrs. DeJean POA". Not one single document reflects any cashing in. Rather both CD's consistently state that CD # 16314 was converted to CD # 17174, three days after Julia

Mae's death. The lack of any other additional documentation reflecting the temporary placement of any cashed in funds between the January 19th and January 23rd, 2001 speaks volumes. The unambiguous language of CD #16314 and CD # 17178 is the best way to determine Julia Mae DeJean's true intentions and the Chancellor did not need any testimony to determine her intentions. Even if Peggy Walker's testimony is needed, she did not say anything that cannot be reconciled with the CDs.

2. Partial cashing in:

The Chancellor held in effect that CD # 16314 was cashed in for purposes of terminating the joint ownership but not to the extent interest was lost. As previously mentioned, Peggy Walker established that for interest purposes, the transfer to the new CD would be effective January 23rd, 2001. Both relevant CDs contain supporting typed and handwritten notations that CD # 16314 would be rolled over into new CD # 17178 dated January 23rd, 2001. However the Chancellor found, in effect, that CD # 16314 was cashed in on or about January 18th or 19th, 2001. Therefore the date CD # 16314 was redeemed is not also the date new CD # 17178 was issued and there are no documents reflecting what happened to the principal between the dates of January 18th/19th and January 23rd, 2001 containing 3-4 business days. Since interest on CD # 16314 was calculated up to January 23rd, 2006, Appellant asks the question how can interest accrue on a CD that has already been cashed in? (Trans. 84, Ln 19 -26). The only logical answer is the transfer was not to take place until January 23rd, 2001. This is the only conclusion that is consistent with Julia Mae' intentions and the language on both CDs.

3. Four Corners Doctrine.

All of the evidence points to the fact that Julia Mae decided not to cash the CD until January 23rd, 2001. Perhaps had she known of her imminent death, she would have decided otherwise. But the fact remains that CD # 16314 was still in full force and effect at the time of her death by Julia Mae's choice. A "court is obligated to enforce a contract executed by legally competent parties where the terms of the contract are clear and unambiguous". Merchants & Farmers Bank v State ex rel Moore 651 So 2d 1060 (Miss. 1995). The Court looks to the four corners of the document to determine how to interpret it. McKee v McKee, 568 So 2d 262, 266 (Miss. 1990). The words employed are by far the best resource for ascertaining the intent and assigning meaning with fairness and accuracy. Simmons v Bank of Mississippi, 593 So 2d 40 (Miss. 1992) It is only when an ambiguity appears between competing terms or where the language in the contract is less than clear should the Court delve further. Indep. Health Care Mgmt v City of Bruce, 746 So 2d 881 (Miss Ct App, 1998) When a written contract is clear, definite. Explicit, harmonious in all its provisions and free from ambiguity, a court should look solely to language used in the instrument itself and will give effect to all parts of it as written. Construction of the contracts becomes a matter of law and not of fact. It must be construed as written. See Pfisterer v. Noble, 320 So. 2d 383, 384 (Miss. 1975) and Griffin v. Tall Timbers Development Inc., 681 So. 2d 546, 551 (Miss. 1996).

No theory of ambiguity was offered by any party nor was any finding made that the contract was unclear or ambiguous. All of the testimony offered supported the idea that CD in dispute was, by express choice, still in full force and effect at the time of Julia Mae's death and the Court is compelled to look at the clear and unambiguous language of CD # 16314 and CD #17178 to determine her intentions. These contracts represent the

best and most reliable evidence available. Matter of Estate of Anderson, 541 So.2d 423, 428 (Miss 1989) In both Bodman v Bodman, 674 So.2d 1245 and Cooper v. Crabb, 587 So 2d 236, the Supreme Court rejected the use of parole evidence to infer an intent contrary to that stated in certificates of deposit.

"We search for intent, but when we search for intent we accept that the l;aw directs our search and points first and foremost to the text the parties created. Matter of Estate of Anderson, 541 So.2d 423, 428 (Miss.1989). Common sense suggests the parties' writing the most reliable evidence of the intent. Common law directs the, where we find survivorship clauses in the name of the account itself, Weaver v. Mason, 228 So2d 591, 593 (Miss. 1969) in the signature cards, Estate of Isaacson v. Isaacson, 508 So. 2d 1131, 1134 (Miss. 1987) or in a joint account agreement, Stewart v. Barksdale, 63 So. 2d 108, 109 (1953, we enforce them according to their tenor. The language to which Bethay and Cooper bound themselves, together with the bank, is without ambiguity. It declares the funds represented by the CDs held by them as joint tenants with rights of survivorship...

And if there were any doubt, which there is not, the Legislature in 1988 has enacted a presumption in the case of deposits in the name of two or more persons payable, as here, to the any one of such persons or the survivor.

Cooper, 587, So.2d at 540.

4. MCA 81-5-63 Deposit in name of two or more persons—of deceased persons

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