#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK DEJEAN

**APPELLANT** 

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2005-TS-00409

HEYWOOD DEJEAN, CHRISTINE DEJEAN AND HANCOCK BANK

**APPELLEES** 

## APPEAL FROM CHANCERY COURT OF JACKSON COUNTY

## BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEES HEYWOOD DEJEAN, CHRISTINE DEJEAN AND HANCOCK BANK

(ORAL ARGUMENT REQUESTED)

## Counsel for Appellees Heywood DeJean and Christine DeJean

Thomas E. Robertson, MSB # Post Office Box 8622
Moss Point, Mississippi 39562
(228)475-5550

# Counsel for the Appellee Hancock Bank

W. Lee Watt, MSB # Christopher R. Fontan, MSB # Brunini, Grantham, Grower & Hewes, PLLC 248 East Capitol Street
Suite 1400
Jackson, Mississippi 39201
(601) 948-3101

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

In his brief in support of his appeal in this matter, Patrick pursues several theories. First, Patrick challenges the Chancellor's finding that CD #16314 was redeemed on or about January 18, 2001—which effectively extinguished any rights Patrick had in the proceeds from that CD. Patrick pursues this theory by raising issues of both fact and law. However, Patrick's challenges on these issues should be denied. The Chancellor's decision satisfies the requisite standard of review for factual determinations at a chancery court level. Further, Patrick's legal arguments attempt to raise new issues for appellate review in this matter – that is, Patrick seeks review of issues he did not raise or preserve at trial before the Chancellor. As such, Patrick is procedurally barred from raising these issues on appeal for the first time. With that being said, even if this Court were to consider Patrick's arguments on this point, the Chancellor's decision was legally sound. Accordingly, both portions of this challenge to the timing of the redemption of CD #16314 should be denied and the Chancellor's judgment affirmed.

Second, Patrick feebly argues for relief based on a faulty interpretation of Mississippi Code §81-5-63. A clear reading of §81-5-63 not only defeats Patrick's meager argument on this point, but also firmly supplies a statutory grant of protection to financial institutions like Hancock Bank in this type of situation. On this point, the Chancellor's decision should also be

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> As noted *supra*, Patrick is not challenging the validity of the Power of Attorney in his appeal on this matter.

upheld.

Third, Patrick appeals the Chancellor's decision concerning the requirement of an endorsement of CD #16314 prior to its redemption. The Chancellor correctly held that the law does not require such an endorsement with non-negotiable instruments, such as CD #16314. Even if such an endorsement were required, Julia Mae's instructions to Walker and Walker's adherence thereto demonstrated by her subsequent notation on the back of CD #16314 combined to satisfy any endorsement requirement. On this point, the Chancellor's decision should also be upheld.

Finally, Patrick alternately argues for an equitable ownership interest in the proceeds from CD #16314, based on the notion that these proceeds derived from his inheritance. This argument is ultimately moot as to Hancock Bank, as Mississippi Code §81-5-63 provides that the Bank is not liable for allowing an owner to collect his funds when held in a joint account. While it is doubtful that Patrick actually possesses the alleged ownership interest due to Julia Mae's proper redemption of CD #16314, this argument is also moot as to Heywood and Christine. Any claim Patrick possesses based on this alleged ownership interest should be directed at Julia Mae or her estate. On this point, the Chancellor's decision should also be upheld.

## IV. ARGUMENT

This appeal focuses on the funds used to purchase CD #16314, the redemption of CD #16314 and the issuance of CD #17178. A certificate of deposit is a note of a bank, and is defined as "instrument containing an acknowledgment by a bank that a sum of money has been received by the bank and a promise by the bank to repay the sum of money. MISS. CODE ANN. §75-3-104(j) (2006).6

Both CDs in this case were issued payable to either of a series of joint depositors.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A certificate of deposit is also defined as "a banker's certificate acknowledging the receipt of money and promising to repay the depositor." BLACK'S LAW DICTIONARY 219 (7th ed. 1999).

Specifically, CD # 16314 was issued payable to "Julia Mae DeJean or Patrick K. DeJean" and CD #17178 was issued payable to "Julia Mae DeJean or Christine W. DeJean or Heywood DeJean." (Ex. 1). The Mississippi Code governs the disposition and payment of jointly-owned deposits, declaring that:

When a deposit has been made or is hereafter made in the name of two (2) or more persons, payable to any one (1) of those persons... the deposit, or any part thereof or interest or dividends thereon may be paid to any one (1) of those persons, without liability whether one or more of those persons is living or not, and the receipt of acquittance of the person so paid shall be a valid and sufficient release to discharge the bank for any payment so made.

MISS. CODE ANN. §81-5-63. This language provides financial institutions, such as Hancock Bank, with protection from the sort of internal family squabbling that exists in this case.

Stated another way, if the account in question is a type governed by the statute, and if any one of the joint holders on an applicable account rightfully redeems any or all of the funds from that jointly-owned account, then §81-5-63 provides Hancock Bank with statutory immunity from liability. In his Brief, Patrick stipulates both §81-5-63's application to CD #16314, as well as Julia Mae's unilateral right of redemption to CD #16314. (Appellant's Brief at 15, 19). Therefore, Patrick concedes that Hancock Bank is immune from liability under §81-5-63 if Julia Mae properly exercised her right to redeem the principal from CD #16314. As the argument below will demonstrate, the Chancellor properly held that Julia Mae did exercise her rights regarding CD #16314, and therefore, the Chancellor's decision should be affirmed.

# A. Certificate of Deposit #16314 was redeemed prior to the death of Julia Mae DeJean.

The crux of Patrick's appeal focuses on the date Julia Mae actually redeemed CD #16314. In the first three (3) issues outlined in the Brief of the Appellant, Patrick pursues various methods in attacking this same issue—that being the timing of the redemption of CD #16314. (Appellant's Brief at 14-19). More specifically, Patrick now contends that CD #16314

was actually redeemed on January 23, 2001—after the death of Julia Mae. (Appellant's Brief at 15-16). In her Findings of Fact, the Chancellor declared that, as a matter of fact, CD #16314 was redeemed on the date Heywood and Christine visited Walker at Hancock Bank's Pascagoula branch, on or about January 18, 2001—prior to the death of Julia Mae. (C.P. at 29-30). The Chancellor held that "Walker redeemed the subject Certificate of Deposit [#16314] (on or about January 18, 2001), but delayed issuing the new Certificate of Deposit [#17178] until January 23, 2001." (C.P. at 29-30). The Chancellor did not discuss this issue in her Conclusions of Law, as Patrick never raised any challenge—legal or factual—regarding the timing of the redemption of CD #16314. Now, for the first time, Patrick seeks to argue that the Chancellor erred in reaching her findings. For the reasons set forth below, Patrick's attempts are insufficient.

# 1) Appellant is procedurally barred from raising new issues he did not advance at trial.

In his appeal of the Chancellor's decision, Patrick argues—for the first time—that the Chancellor erred in holding that CD #16314 was redeemed on or about January 18, 2001. (Appellant's Brief at 14-19). Before considering the merits of this argument, Patrick's assertions in this area are fundamentally flawed because he never argued this issue at the trial court level. The Supreme Court is limited in its review of matters not presented to the underlying trial court. More precisely, a trial judge cannot be put in error on matters not presented for his or her decision. Bender v. North Meridian Mobile Home Park, 636 So. 2d 385, 389 (Miss. 1994); Mills v. Nichols, 467 So. 2d 924, 931 (Miss. 1985).

Nowhere in the Amended Complaint did Patrick assert any allegation or cause of action regarding the timing of the redemption of CD #16314. (C.P. at 14-17). As stated *supra*, in the Amended Complaint, Patrick alleged Hancock Bank was in breach of contract based on two distinct and particular grounds, i.e., that during the redemption process, Hancock Bank failed to obtain a proper endorsement and acted pursuant to an invalid Power of Attorney. (C.P. at 16-

17)<sup>7</sup>. Furthermore, Patrick never challenged the timing of the redemption of CD#16314 at trial. (T. at 1-94). To the contrary, the Appellant's entire case at trial consisted merely of a brief opening argument and the direct examination of Patrick himself—neither of which focused on the date of the redemption of CD #16314. (T. at 1-49). Based on Patrick's aforementioned waiver at trial of his challenge to the Power of Attorney<sup>8</sup>, Patrick's grounds for appeal should be limited to a challenge on the endorsement requirement.

Patrick possessed ample opportunity to raise this "timing" issue prior to now. On the eve of the first trial setting, the Chancellor allowed Patrick to amend his original Complaint to include any allegations he had against Hancock Bank. (C.P. at 20). Patrick could have included this issue as a claim in the Amended Complaint. Moreover, Patrick failed to assert this argument at the trial on October 18, 2004. As this Court has held on numerous occasions, "it is a well stated principle that issues not presented at trial cannot be raised on appeal." *Bender*, 636 So. 2d at 389 (citing *Parker v. Mississippi Game and Fish Commission*, 555 So. 2d 725, 730 (Miss. 1989)).

For this elementary appellate principle, this Court should refuse to consider any attempt by Patrick to raise the issue of timing of the redemption in this appeal.

2) The Chancellor's Finding of Fact regarding the timing of the redemption of Certificate of Deposit #16314 was supported by substantial evidence.

Assuming arguendo that Patrick can now raise the issue of when CD #16314 was redeemed, it is clear that this factual matter was properly decided by the finder of fact at the trial level – the Chancellor. As stated *supra*, the Chancellor declared in her Findings of Fact that Walker followed Julia Mae's directions in having CD #16314 redeemed on or about January 18,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Appellees are contemporaneously moving this Court for the inclusion of three pages of the Amended Complaint which were omitted from the Clerk's papers, and which should have been placed between the current pages 17 and 18 of the Clerk's papers.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See note 3, supra.

2001, but delayed issuing the new Certificate of Deposit until January 23, 2001. (C.P. at 29-30). As part of his appeal, Patrick now argues that the Chancellor committed manifest error in reaching this factual finding.

Under Mississippi law, the scope of review in an appeal of a chancellor's decision is a well-settled principle of law. When reviewing a chancellor's decision, the Supreme Court applies a limited abuse of discretion standard of review, and will not disturb findings of a chancellor "unless the chancellor was manifestly wrong, clearly erroneous, or applied the wrong legal standard." *McNeil v. Hester*, 753 So. 2d 1057, 1063 (Miss. 2000). More specifically, this Court will not disturb chancellor's <u>factual</u> findings unless they are manifestly wrong or clearly erroneous. *Nettleton Church of Christ v. Conwill*, 707 So. 2d 1075 (Miss. 1997) (emphasis added). Stated another way, a chancery court's factual findings should not be reversed where there is substantial evidence supporting those facts. *Cooper v. Crabb*, 587 So. 2d 236, 239 (Miss. 1991); *Mullins v. Ratcliff*, 515 So. 2d 1183, 1189 (Miss. 1987); *Norris v. Norris*, 498 So. 2d 809, 814 (Miss. 1986); *Gilchrist Machinery Co., Inc. v. Ross*, 493 So. 2d 1288, 1292 (Miss. 1986).

At trial, the Chancellor was presented with substantial evidence on which to base her factual findings. The Appellees presented the Chancellor with the testimony of Heywood, Walker, and Sharon Freeman<sup>9</sup> regarding the events at Hancock Bank's main branch in Pascagoula on or about January 18, 2001. (T. at 57-93). These witnesses explained Julia Mae's intent to redeem CD #16314, her intent to purchase a new certificate of deposit with these redeemed funds, and the actions taken by Hancock Bank to effectuate the desires of Julia Mae. (T. at 61-63, 72-73, 82-84). In contrast, Patrick offered no evidence to contradict the testimony

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Sharon Freeman is Christine's daughter, Heywood's brother, and Julia Mae's niece. Freeman testified about Julia Mae's attempt to remove Patrick's name from any of her remaining assets, including her accounts at Hancock Bank. (R. 71-74).

of these witnesses. Furthermore, the Chancellor reviewed both CD #16314 and CD #17178 themselves. This evidence satisfied the substantial evidence threshold on which the Chancellor based her factual findings regarding the redemption CD #16314. As such, this Court should affirm this finding of the Chancellor.

**a.** Appellant is barred procedurally from arguing for the application of the parole evidence rule.

In his Brief, Patrick argues that this Court should disregard the testimony of Walker regarding the disposition of CD #16314. Patrick alleges that the introduction of Walker's testimony was in violation of the parole evidence rule. (Appellant's Brief at 9, 17, 20). However, like most of the issues raised in his appeal, Patrick did not preserve this issue by objecting to the introduction of this testimony at trial. Mississippi law is strikingly clear on the subject of appeals based on the parole evidence rule. This Court has held that "a party [cannot] 'successfully urge for the <u>first time on appeal</u> that the oral testimony contradicted [the parole evidence rule]." Estate of Parker v. Dorchak, 673 So. 2d 1379 (Miss. 1996) (quoting Service Fire Insurance Co. v. Craft, 67 So. 2d 874 (Miss. 1953) (emphasis added)). Patrick made no such objection at the trial court level. As such, this Court is precluded from hearing the merits of such an argument in this appeal.

Based on the foregoing, the Chancellor was presented with substantial evidence on which to base her finding that, as a matter of fact, Julia Mae properly redeemed CD #16314 on or about January 18, 2001—thus extinguishing any rights Patrick had in the proceeds of certificate. This satisfies the requisite standard of review before this Court. As such, the finding of the Chancellor should be upheld.

This Court further held that, in order to raise the parole evidence rule on appeal, a party must <u>at least</u> properly object to the introduction of the evidence prior to its consideration by the trier of fact. 673 So. 2d at 1379 (emphasis added).

3) The Chancellor presumably relied on a valid legal standard in deciding that Certificate of Deposit #16314 was redeemed on or about January 18, 2001.

In his Brief, Appellant also challenges the legal sufficiency of the Chancellor's ruling regarding the redemption of CD #16314. Patrick alleges that the Chancellor's decision essentially allowed for the "partial cashing in" of CD #16314. (Appellant's Brief at 17). This characterization is based on the belief that the redemption of CD #16314 and the issuance of CD #17178 were one unified event. It is important to note that the Chancellor only addressed the timing of the redemption of CD #16314 in her Findings of Fact—not in her Conclusions of Law. This is because Patrick did not raise the legal issue of the timing of the redemption of CD #16314 at the trial of this matter. Instead, Patrick now seeks to raise this wholly new argument once his original points have failed. However, assuming arguendo that this Court should allow Patrick to raise this issue on appeal, the characterization of the redemption and the issuance of the CDs in question as one event proves to be the fundamental flaw in Patrick's argument. The Chancellor was not in error in ruling that CD #16314 was redeemed on or about January 18, 2001, and that CD #17178 was similarly, but separately issued and post-dated January 23, 2001.

a. Appellant failed to present authority supporting his challenge to the legal validity of the Chancellor's decision.

Before reaching the merits of Patrick's argument regarding the legal sufficiency of the Chancellor's decision, it is important to note that, in addition to raising this issue for the first time on appeal, Patrick offers no legal support for this his contention that certificates of deposit cannot be "partially cashed in." (Appellant's Brief at 17). Even if this bald statement is legally sound<sup>11</sup>, the law is well established in Mississippi that this Court is not required to address any issue that is not supported by reasons and authority. *Hoops v. State*, 681 So.2d 521, 535 (Miss.1996) (citing *Pate v. State*, 419 So.2d 1324, 1325- 26 (Miss.1982)). As such, this Court is

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Appellees do not concede the legal sufficiency of this proposition.

not required to look any further into Patrick's argument in this regard, and is justified in dismissing Patrick's appeal on this point.

**b.** The Chancellor's findings regarding the redemption of Certificate of Deposit #16314 are legally valid.

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